FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/21/2019 1:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96973-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 49988-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN K. KENNELL, AS MANAGING MEMBER OF POTATO PATCH LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DAVID GREER NIELSEN, and RITA NIELSEN, husband and wife; and EDWARD LUCKE and JOAN LUCKE, husband and wife; and JAMES STOVER and BONNIE STOVER, husband and wife; and WILLIAM TINNESAND and DEBORAH TINNESAND, husband and wife; and PENELOPE RADEBAUGH, a married woman as her separate estate; and JENNIE MOWATT, a single woman,

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiff and Appellant John Kennell, as Managing Member of Potato Patch LLC ("Potato Patch"), seeks review of the decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Potato Patch seeks review of the unpublished decision terminating review of Division Two of the Court of Appeals, entered on November 6, 2018. A copy of the decision ("Decision") is attached as Appendix A. A timely motion for reconsideration was denied by a summary order entered on February 20, 2019. A copy of that order is attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case involves the continuing efforts by John Kennell and his wife to "unlock" family property, known as the "potato patch" and located on the western shore of the Hood Canal, by providing the property with road access to the outside world. The Court of Appeals rejected the Kennells' efforts to unlock the potato patch. The Court of Appeals' Decision raises three issues, all of which are intertwined by the common thread of this State's long-standing public policy favoring the unlocking of land. *See*, *e.g.*, *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 8, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012) (recognizing the "overriding public policy goal against making landlocked property useless").

1. <u>The scope of the Court of Appeals' Decision in Granite</u>

Beach Holdings, L.L.C. v. Department of Natural Resources, 103 Wn. App.

186, 11 P.3d 847 (2000). In Granite Beach Holdings, L.L.C. v Department

of Natural Resources, 103 Wn. App. 186, 11 P.3d 847 (2000), the Court of Appeals held that an easement passing partly across State of Washington land could not be extended farther across that land to reach—and thereby unlock—private property, because this would require an impermissible taking of State land. Here, the Court of Appeals applied Granite Beach Holdings to bar access to the potato patch over an existing road easement that passes entirely across land now owned by the Department of Fish and Wildlife, merely because the ensuing use could in some way burden that land—even though there had been no showing that allowing use of the road to access the potato patch would actually impair the Department's use of its land. The Court of Appeals' application of Granite Beach Holdings wrongfully impairs the ability of landlocked property owners to unlock their land, by unduly privileging State land. This is a matter of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court. See RAP 13.4(b).

dispute over the location of an easement. Several owners of property in a subdivision immediately south of the potato patch refused to allow the Kennells to use a road crossing the subdivision, which connects to the road running across the Department's land. The subdivision property is subject to a dedicated public right-of-way that the dedicator intended would provide access to the potato patch. The dedicator's intent can only be fulfilled if the right-of-way is declared to run along the road, the only practicable route now available for crossing the subdivision. Fulfilling the dedicator's intent also is necessary to unlock the potato patch. Yet the Court of Appeals

upheld the trial court's refusal's to declare that the right-of-way ran along the road, and in doing so questioned whether Washington courts have the inherent equitable power to settle disputes over an easement's location. Whether Washington courts should be able to exercise that power is a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. The test for determining the existence of alternative routes for accessing property. The adjacent subdivision property owners claimed that the Kennells had voluntarily landlocked the potato patch by selling a connecting piece of property located immediately to the southeast, which allegedly could have provided the potato patch with road access to the world. This connecting piece of land ran along a bluff above a beach, and the unrebutted evidence in the record showed that the bluff was too unstable geologically to safely support a road. The Court of Appeals nonetheless held that the potato patch could have had access through that piece, using a beach easement immediately below the bluff, and therefore the Kennells voluntarily landlocked the potato patch when they sold the connecting property. The appropriateness of treating the surrender of beach access as constituting the voluntary land-locking of property is a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. McGrew dedicates a public right-of-way across his property, in order to provide road access for the "potato patch," property located immediately to the north.

In 1939, G.F. McGrew bought property in Jefferson County located inland from Quilcene Bay, which would later become known as the Point Whitney Tracts. CP 98, 100. In 1943, McGrew conveyed to Jefferson County in fee simple a public right-of-way for "road purposes" (CP 55), providing access to the property immediately to the north of McGrew's property via:

[a] right of way for road, from point where present county road enters their property, thence in a generally northerly direction to the north boundary of their property. This road to follow the eastern boundary as near as possible except where natural obstacles prevent[.]

CP 48-51 (copy attached as Appendix C). The deed setting forth the right-of-way was recorded in 1944. CP 51. As discussed more fully in Section IV.C., *infra*, the property to the north, benefited by the right-of-way created by McGrew, has long been known as the "potato patch."

A steep ravine exists on the eastern boundary of McGrew's property, which makes it impracticable to build a road there. CP 251. Thus, when McGrew dedicated a right-of-way evidently intended to provide road access to and from the property located along the north boundary of McGrew's property, it was apparent at the time that any future roadway using the right-of-way would have to be located somewhere west of the eastern boundary of McGrew's property.

B. The Lorenzens acquire the McGrew property and create the Point Whitney Tracts subdivision, subject to the right-of-way dedicated by McGrew. A road is built—the Canyon Creek Road—running from the north boundary of the Point Whitney Tracts south to a county road. The southern portion of the road uses an easement granted to the owners of the Point Whitney Tracts. The Department of Fish & Wildlife later acquires the land subject to that easement.

In 1987, Marvin Lorenzen and his wife took title to what would later become the Point Whitney Tracts. CP 54-55. Their deed specifically incorporated and acknowledged the McGrew right-of-way, which had remained as an encumbrance on the property since 1944. CP 55 ("Subject to easement affecting a portion of subject property for road purposes in favor of Jefferson County as recorded Dec. 15, 1944, Auditor's File No. 103323[.]"). In 1991, the Lorenzens subdivided the property into the "Point Whitney Tracts" consisting of eight lots: four located on the western half of the property, and four located on the eastern half of the property. CP 43; CP 63-64, 117, 205. (A copy of the Point Whitney Tracts large lot subdivision is attached as Appendix D.) The owners of the four eastern Point Whitney Tract lots later built homes on their lots, located between the eastern boundary of the Point Whitney Tract and Canyon Creek Road. CP 104-05.

As part of the Point Whitney Tracts subdivision, a roadway was created and approved by the County; this roadway, called Canyon Creek

¹ At one point, area resident William Duesing requested that the County itself take steps to open the right-of-way, which the County declined to do. CP 205-06, 214. But the County has never abandoned the right-of-way. CP 205, 214.

Road, runs from south to north through the middle of the subdivision. CP 43, 63-64, 117, 205.² (A color copy of a map depicting Canyon Creek Road is attached as Appendix E.) The lot owners have road access to the outside world via that road, which continues south from the Point Whitney Tracts until it connects to a county road. CP 56-57, 104, 117. The southernmost portion of Canyon Creek Road travels along an easement granted to the Whitney Tracts lot owners in 1990. CP 42, 56-64, 104, 117. The Department of Fish and Wildlife later acquired the property subject to this easement. CP 104.

C. The Kennells, longtime area property owners, form the Potato Patch LLC and acquire the potato patch. The only practicable way to effect McGrew's intent and provide road access for the potato patch is via Canyon Creek Road.

John Kennell and his wife are longtime residents of the Kitsap Peninsula, who have for many years owned beachside property along Quilcene Bay. CP 128-30. The Kennells are the sole members of Potato Patch LLC ("Potato Patch"). CP 132. In 2010 the Kennells, via Potato Patch, bought the rural parcel bordering Quilcene Bay adjacent to their property and immediately to the north of the Point Whitney Tracts, known as the potato patch. CP 41-42, 104, 130, 301. The property is called the

² At the time of the creation of the subdivision and Canyon Creek Road, the North Mason Public Utility District installed an electrical vault at the northern terminus of Canyon Creek Road to "service [the] future electrical needs" of the property immediately to the north (the potato patch). CP 44, 139.

potato patch because the former owner's father had a vegetable garden on the land, where he raised potatoes during World War II. CP 208.³

Potato Patch also owned, but later sold, beachside properties known as the "Duesing properties," abutting the potato patch on the southeast. CP 132, 144-59, 170-72, 307-08. (A color copy of a map depicting the location of the Duesing properties in relation to the potato patch and the Point Whitney Tracts is attached as Appendix F.) The Duesing properties have road access to the outside world, but an engineering evaluation determined that an easement across the Duesing properties to the potato patch could not safely be used to extend road access to the potato patch, because the sloping sloughing bluff along which it would have to run could not safely support a road:

[A]ccess to the Potato Patch parcel from parcel No. 601072010 [i.e., the Duesing properties] to the southeast is very steep and is unstable. Slope failures should be expected in this area as the slope has been over steepened by shoreline erosion below. The slope is too steep to safely support a road even if a full bench cut was cut across the slope. Cutting a road across this slope would also further undermine the slope above and would have a negative impact on the property above[.]

CP 66 (McShane Decl., \$\bigsep\$5) (emphasis added). That evaluation also concluded that the only way to unlock the potato patch and provide it road access to the outside world was via Canyon Creek Road. CP 66 (McShane Decl., \$\bigsep\$P\$ 4, 6-7).

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

³ The phrase "Potato Patch," when capitalized, refers to the limited liability company formed by the Kennells, which took ownership of the property known as the potato patch. The phrase when not capitalized refers to the property itself. McGrew dedicated his right-of-way in 1943 and recorded it in 1944 during the time when the potato patch literally *was* a potato patch. CP 42, 48.

D. After some of the Point Whitney Tract owners refuse to grant an easement to Potato Patch for use of Canyon Creek Road, Potato Patch sues for relief that would unlock the potato patch property via Canyon Creek Road. The trial court dismisses Potato Patch's action, and the Court of Appeals affirms.

After some of the Point Whitney Tract owners refused to grant Potato Patch an easement to use Canyon Creek Road, Potato Patch sued. Potato Patch sought a declaratory judgment confirming the continuing existence of the McGrew right-of-way, establishing its location along the northern portion of Canyon Creek Road, and granting Potato Patch the right to use Canyon Creek Road including that portion located within the easement over the Department of Fish and Wildlife's land. CP 17-18.

Potato Patch moved for a partial summary judgment confirming the continuing existence of the McGrew right-of-way, and establishing its location on the Point Whitney Tracts' portion of Canyon Creek Road. CP 26-27, 41-64, 65-70. Several Point Whitney Tracts lot owners cross-moved for a summary judgment dismissing Potato Patch's claims. CP 73-96, 97-100, 103-17, 120-217.

The trial court granted summary judgment to the defendants and dismissed Potato Patch's claims with prejudice. CP 350-53. The trial court stated in its order that, although its ruling "d[id] not impact or limit whatever rights [Potato Patch] may have re[garding the] McGrew ROW [i.e., right-of-way]," the "Canyon Creek Easement [i.e., Road] is not [the] McGrew ROW as a matter of law." CP 352; see also RP (Jan. 13, 2017) 27 ("McGrew still exists separate and apart from Canyon Creek."); RP (Jan.

13, 2017) 42 ("And as a matter of law, it's pretty clear they are separate and distinct parcels.").4

The Court of Appeals affirmed. The Court of Appeals determined that, in order to unlock the potato patch property, Potato Patch would have to be granted use of the portion of Canyon Creek Road located within the existing easement over the land owned by the Department of Fish and Wildlife. *See* Decision at 10-11, 13. Although that easement crossing over the Department's land predated the Department's acquisition of the land, the Court of Appeals held—based on *Granite Beach Holdings*—that Potato Patch could not use it because *any* increased burden would constitute a forbidden taking of State land, even if that burden did not impair the Department's use of the land. Decision at 12. And because full relief therefore could not be granted by the trial court, the Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court had properly dismissed the action.⁵

Potato Patch now petitions for review by this Court.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Our state's public policy against land-locking property is constitutionally grounded. *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012) (citing Washington Const. art. I, § 16). The Legislature early on adopted a statutory remedy to effect that policy, now

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

⁴ The trial court denied the defendants' motion for attorneys' fees and costs under the easement-of-necessity statute, and they did not appeal that ruling. CP 418-19.

⁵ As will be discussed more fully in Subsections V.B and V.C, the Court of Appeals also ruled that the McGrew right-of-way could not be located over the northern portion of Canyon Creek Road, and that Potato Patch voluntarily relinquished road access to the potato patch when Potato Patch sold off the Duesing properties. *See* Decision at 5, 14-17.

codified as RCW 8.24.010. *Brown v. McAnally*, 97 Wn.2d 360, 367, 644 P.2d 1153 (1982). This Court recently cited and quoted with approval the following explanation for the policy against land-locking property, set forth in 2004 by the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeals:

Useful land becomes more scarce in proportion to population increase, and the problem in this state becomes greater as tourism, commerce and the need for housing and agricultural goods grow. By its application to shut-off lands to be used for housing, agriculture, timber production and stockraising, the statute is designed to fill these needs. There is then a clear public purpose in providing means of access to such lands so that they might be utilized in the enumerated ways.

Cirelli v. Ent, 885 So.2d 423, 430 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2004) (discussing Florida's statutory equivalent of RCW 8.24.010) (quoting Deseret Ranches of Fla., Inc. v. Bowman, 349 So.2d 155, 156-57 (Fla. 1977)), cited and quoted with approval in Ruvalcaba, 175 Wn.2d at 6 n.2.

The present action sought to unlock the potato patch, providing it with road access to the outside world. The Court of Appeals' Decision leaves the potato patch landlocked. That decision impermissibly frustrates our state's public policy against land-locking property in three specific ways, matters of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision misapplies *Granite Beach Holdings*, *L.L.C. v. Department of Natural Resources*, 103 Wn. App. 186, 11 P.3d 847 (2000), by holding that any increased impact from granting the use of an existing easement over State land constitutes an impermissible taking of State land. This is a matter of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Canyon Creek Road gives the Point Whitney Tracts lot owners access to the outside world. The southern portion of Canyon Creek Road passes over property owned by the Department of Fish and Wildlife, via an easement in favor of the Whitney Tract lot owners granted by the Department's predecessor. Unlocking the potato patch requires that its owners be entitled to use the southern portion of Canyon Creek Road. To that end, Potato Patch sought a declaration that it be entitled to share in the use of that easement, along with the owners of the Whitney Tracts.

The Court of Appeals held, however, that the decision in *Granite Beach Holdings, L.L.C. v Department of Natural Resources*, 103 Wn. App. 186, 11 P.3d 847 (2000), barred granting Potato Patch such a use right, because it would increase the burden on the underlying State land. Decision at 12. According to the Court of Appeals, *any* increase in the burden on State land from granting an additional party the right to use an existing easement over State land constitutes an impermissible taking of State land:

Potato Patch argues that granting a private way of necessity in the existing easement would not "unduly expand" the number of parties using the easement. Reply Br. of Appellant at 15. However, the relevant inquiry is whether such action effects an increased burden on the servient owner's interests, not an undue burden. Granite Beach Holdings, 103 Wn. App. at 204. Increasing the servitude placed upon the State lands, even by just one party, constitutes an increased burden on the servient owner's interests. See id. Thus,

Potato Patch may have provided evidence showing that Canyon Creek Road was the most feasible route to access its property, but its private condemnation action still could not achieve the access it sought without impermissibly condemning the State's interests.

Id. (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals has misapplied *Granite Beach Holdings* in a way that impermissibly privileges State land and interferes with the ability of land-locked land owners to achieve relief from that disfavored status. *Granite Beach Holdings* involved an attempt by a party to extend a partial road easement over State land, which did not reach the party's land-locked parcel. 103 Wn. App. at 203. The court there ruled that this extension would constitute an impermissible taking of State land. *Id.* Potato Patch, however, is not seeking any extension of the easement over State land, but only the right to share in the use of an existing easement that already runs entirely across that land.

The Court of Appeals itself recognized that "a private party may condemn another party's interest in an existing easement over State-owned land because such easement is separate from the State's fee interest." Decision at 11 n.9 (citing *State ex rel. Polson Logging Co. v. Superior Court*, 11 Wn.2d 545, 559-60, 119 P.2d 694 (1941); *Granite Beach Holdings*, 103 Wn. App. at 203). And indeed that is *all* Potato Patch seeks to do—condemn the interest of the Point Whitney Tracts owners in the existing easement over the Department of Fish and Wildlife's land, and only to the extent of being granted the right to *share* in the use of the easement.

Only by reading into *Granite Beach Holdings* a rule that *any* increase in the burden on State land, resulting from granting a right to share

in the use of an existing easement over State land, constitutes an impermissible taking of State land, could the Court of Appeals deny Potato Patch the right, like any other private party, to condemn another party's interest in an existing easement over State-owned land. But *Granite Beach Holdings* establishes no such rule. Moreover, such a rule has no support in the law of takings, which requires proof of an undue burden before a taking will be recognized.⁶ The Court of Appeals' Decision thus impermissibly privileges State land and interferes with the ability of land-locked land owners to achieve relief from that disfavored status.⁷ This is a matter of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

⁶ As the Court of Appeals recognized, a private party may condemn another party's interest in an easement across State land because that easement is separate from the State's fee interest in the land. Hence, the taking of the easement as such does not *a fortiori* operate to effect a taking of the State's fee interest. Potato Patch would agree that the adverse impact of that condemnation on the State's use and enjoyment of its fee right might prove to be of such a magnitude that it should be deemed a taking, similar to the way the adverse impact of a regulation can be deemed a taking (which courts refer to as an "inverse" condemnation). *See*, *e.g.*, *Penn Cent. Transp. Co. v. New York City*, 438 U.S. 104, 124, 98 S. Ct. 2646, 57 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1978) (outlining a multi-factor test for determining whether there has been an inverse condemnation). The gravamen of the Court of Appeals' error here is its determination that *any* impact, even if not in fact an interference with the State's use and enjoyment of its fee right, should be deemed a taking. Moreover, the notion that nine—instead of eight—home owners accessing their property by driving on the portion of Canyon Creek Road that passes over the Department's land would have such a material, adverse impact on the Department's use and enjoyment of its land is far-fetched, at best.

⁷ Nor will the principles of collateral estoppel salvage the Court of Appeals' Decision on this point. The Whitney Tracts owners have claimed that the rejection in a prior lawsuit of a claim by Potato Patch to a prescriptive easement over the southern portion of Canyon Creek Road bars Potato Patch's present claim. But that claim of prescriptive easement was rejected because Potato Patch failed to show facts that could have given rise to a prescriptive easement supposedly originating in actions taken by Duesing's predecessor. CP 164-69, 177-78, 180-86, 189-92. The present claim is based on the undisputed fact of the easement expressly granted to the Point Whitney Tracts lot owners by the Department of Fish and Wildlife's predecessor.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision on the issue of the location of the McGrew right-of-way, questioning whether Washington courts may exercise the inherent equitable power to resolve disputes over the location of an easement, raises an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Court of Appeals erred when it upheld the trial court's refusal to recognize that the McGrew right-of-way should be deemed to run along the northern portion of Canyon Creek Road. *See* Decision at 14-18. The document creating the right-of-way by its terms contemplates that the road may have to be located away from the eastern boundary of the Point Whitney Tracts. CP 48-50. McGrew's evident intent to create access for the property lying to his north (the potato patch) should not be frustrated by the fact that the passage of time and subsequent development of the area now means there is no place closer to the eastern boundary upon which to locate the right-of-way than where Canyon Creek Road runs.

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