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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Well-Established 
Washington Law in Affirming Dismissal of Potato Patch's 
Claims and No Issues of Substantial Public Interest Exist 

Potato Patch argues the Court of Appeals misapplied Granite 

Beach Holdings, L.L.C. v. Dep 't of Nat. Res., creating an issue of 

substantial public interest warranting review. Potato Patch is mistaken. 

An issue of "substantial public interest" arises when a holding has the 

potential to affect a significant number of proceedings in the lower courts 

and review is necessary to avoid unnecessary litigation and/or confusion 

on a common issue. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 

904 (2005). It is obvious that Potato Patch's attempt to expand an 

easement across State land does not present an issue of substantial public 

interest. Moreover, Granite Beach Holdings is well-established, well­

reasoned, directly on point, and dispositive of Potato Patch's claims. 

In Granite Beach Holdings, the court held that expansion of an 

easement over property owned by the State was prohibited as an 

175 Wn.2d I, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012). The Court of Appeals did not expressly rule on 
this issue. 
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impermissible condemnation of public land under facts substantially 

similar to those present here. There, the plaintiff purchased land (the 

"Granite Property") completely surrounded by land owned by the State. 

The Granite Property could only be accessed by logging roads which ran 

across State land. The plaintiff in the Granite Beach case (like Potato 

Patch) purchased the Granite Property knowing it was landlocked. 

Two private property owners owned land neighboring the Granite 

Property. These property owners (like the Point Whitney Tracts) held 

private easements over State land for ingress and egress to only their 

properties. The plaintiff in Granite Beach (like here) sought to "condemn 

a private way of necessity for ingress and egress over the easement rights 

held [by the private parties]." The easements held by the private property 

owners were restricted to the owners' ingress and egress across State land. 

Granite Beach Holdings, I 03 Wn. App. at 202. 

The Court dismissed the plaintiff's private way of necessity claims 

as a matter of law on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals reasoned 

that the plaintiff's condemnation of the private easements "would expand 

the number of parties that may use the road and the purposes for which the 

road is used." Id at 204 (underline added). The Court went on to state 

that the plaintiff was "seeking to be added to private easements rather than 

substituted for them, thereby effecting an increased burden on the 
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servient owner's interests, which cannot be done without condemning that 

owner's interest in whole or in part." Id. at 204 (emphasis added). 

"Allowing the [plaintiff] to condemn [the private property owner's 

easements] would be an expansion of the servitude placed upon the State 

lands by the original easement." Id. (citing Brown v. Voss, 105 Wn.2d 

3 66, 715 P .2d 514 (1986) for the proposition that an "easement cannot be 

expanded to serve a parcel that was not part of the original easement.") 

(underline added). 

Here, it is undisputed that Potato Patch's use of the Canyon Creek 

Road easement would increase the burden on State land. See Plaintiff's 

Complaint for Declaratory Relief (Amended) at ,i 3.8 (noting that adding 

Potato Patch and the Potato Patch Property to the easement would create 

an "additional burden"). Additionally, the expansion of the Canyon Creek 

Road easement to serve another parcel (the Potato Patch Property), would 

likewise result in an increased burden on State land. Even more 

concerning, Potato Patch seeks to expand the easement burdening State 

land in the absence of the State (WDFW). Perhaps this is because Potato 

Patch already sued the State for access across Canyon Creek Road and 

lost. Potato Patch may not like it, but the analysis in Granite Beach 

Holdings applies nearly word-for-word to this case. 
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Should any doubt remain (which it should not), Potato Patch's own 

attorneys already advised Potato Patch that this is the law. Potato Patch's 

former attorney wrote an opinion email analyzing the expansion of 

existing easements for the benefit of the Potato Patch Property. Potato 

Patch's attorney cited Brown v. Voss (the same case cited by the Court in 

Granite Beach Holdings) for the rule that the lot benefited by an easement 

cannot expand the easement "to include an abutting parcel for purposes of 

the easement without overburdening." Brown, 105 Wn.2d at 372.4 

Potato Patch's dislike of well-established Washington law does not 

have the potential to affect a significant number of lower court 

proceedings, is not an issue of substantial public interest, and does not 

form a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Potato Patch's Petition for 

Review should be denied. 

B. Potato Patch's Misunderstanding of the Court of Appeals' 
Decision is not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest 
Warranting Review 

Potato Patch mistakenly argues the Court of Appeals and trial court 

erred when they refused to transmogrify the McGrew ROW into the upper 

4 Potato Patch also implies that the Court of Appeals' decision "impermissibly 
privileges" Stand land. Potato Patch apparently fails to recognize State land ~ 
protected from private condemnation under well-established Washington law. See 
Jobe v. Weyerhaeuser, Co., 37 Wn. App. 718, 724, 684 P.2d 719 (1984) (holding 
"that a 'private way of necessity' cannot be acquired by a private party across State 
or municipality owned lands or their easements pursuant to RCW 8.24."). 
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portion of Canyon Creek Road. In support of its Petition for Review, 

Potato Patch: (1) speculates that Canyon Creek Road must be the McGrew 

ROW, and (2) argues Washington courts should have the power to ignore 

the terms of real estate documents and transform property rights at will. 

Potato Patch's arguments are wholly unsupported and demonstrate no 

issue of substantial public interest warranting review. 

1. Potato Patch's Speculation is not a Basis to Grant Review 

Potato Patch urges this Court to grant review by mistakenly 

claiming the McGrew ROW and the upper portion of Canyon Creek Road 

must be the same. As an initial matter, this is not a basis upon which to 

grant review under RAP 13.4(b). Even if it was (which it is not), Potato 

Patch has presented no evidence in support of its wishful thinking. This is 

made clear by the Court of Appeals: 

The 1943 deed conveying the McGrew right of way to the 
County stated that the McGrew right of way would begin at 
the "point where present county road enters their property" 
and "follow the eastern boundary as near as possible except 
where natural obstacles prevent." Potato Patch did not 
provide any evidence as to where the "present county road" 
entered the property in 1943, nor did Potato Patch provide 
any evidence as to what constituted "as near as possible" to 
the eastern boundary of the Point Whitney Tracts in 1943. 
When deposed in 2016, Kennell stated that he did not know 
what point the 1943 deed referred to when it stated '"from 
point where present county road enters their property.'" 

A reasonable fact finder could not conclude that the County 
intended Canyon Creek Road to serve as the McGrew right 
of way when Potato Patch did not provide any evidence of 
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such intent and did not provide any evidence showing what 
points the 1943 deed referred to when describing the 
McGrew right of way. And evidence that a road could not 
be built on the most eastern border of the Point Whitney 
Tracts could not allow a fact finder to speculate that 
Canyon Creek Road must be the 1943 McGrew right of 
way. 

Decision, at *8 (underline added; internal citations to the record omitted). 

It is obvious to any reasonable person in this case that the McGrew 

ROW and Canyon Creek Road are not the same. The McGrew ROW and 

Canyon Creek Road: are two different strips of land ( one exists on the 

eastern boundary of the Point Whitney Tracts, the other runs through the 

center of the Point Whitney Tracts); were created by two different 

documents ( one by a 1944 Quit Claim Deed, the other by the Point 

Whitney Tracts Large Lot Subdivision Plat); were created during two 

different time periods (one in 1944, the other in the 1990's); were created 

by two different people (one by G.F. McGrew, the other by Marvin 

Lorenzen); and serve two different interests ( one was created in favor of 

the County, the other serves only the Point Whitney Tracts). Putting 

sprinkles on a rock does not make it a doughnut; repeatedly asserting the 

McGrew ROW is Canyon Creek Road does not make it so. Potato Patch's 

speculation does not have the potential to affect a significant number of 

proceedings in the lower courts and does not create a basis for review 

under RAP 13.4(b). 
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2. Potato Patch's Desire to Transmogrify the McGrew 
ROW into the Upper Portion of Canyon Creek Road is 
not a Basis for Review 

Potato Patch mistakenly asserts the Court of Appeals 'questioned' 

whether Washington courts can resolve disputes over the location of 

easements. A cursory review of the Court of Appeals' Decision readily 

demonstrates the Court decided the McGrew ROW was not Canyon Creek 

Road and that a judicial determination concerning the precise location of 

the McGrew ROW ( other than not Canyon Creek Road) was unnecessary 

because no remaining justiciable controversy existed between the parties. 

Decision, at *9.5 

Nevertheless, m an attempt to manufacture a basis for review, 

Potato Patch asserts Washington courts should be able to disregard the 

express terms of real estate documents to transform the location of 

easements at will. Such a stance is wholly unsupported and, not 

surprisingly, Potato Patch cites no authority for this imaginative 

proposition. Instead, Potato Patch cites Spencer v. Kosir, 733 N.W.2d 921 

(Wis. Ct. App. 2007), an inapposite Wisconsin court of appeals case. 

5 The Court also noted Potato Patch presented no evidence concerning the precise 
location of the McGrew ROW. Further, it is important to note the McGrew ROW is 
an unopened, unused, landlocked, right-of-way reserved for use by Jefferson County, 
should it choose to do so. 
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In Kosir, the easement at issue was for "a right of way for road 

purposes across" the servient owner's parcel. Id. at 923. The easement 

did not identify, in any way, the location of the easement or the width of 

the easement. In locating the easement, the court noted that "[ w ]hen the 

location of an easement is not defined, the court has the inherent power to 

affirmatively and specifically determine its location." Id. at 925. 

This is not the case here. The McGrew ROW specifically 

identifies its location on "the eastern boundary [ of the Point Whitney 

Tracts] as near as possible except were natural obstacles prevent." 

Canyon Creek Road runs through the center of the Point Whitney Tracts, 

over 600 feet away from the Point Whitney Tracts eastern boundary. 

What Potato Patch truly seeks to do is transform the McGrew ROW into 

Canyon Creek Road without any legal support or evidence. Potato Patch's 

desire to transmogrify the McGrew ROW into Canyon Creek Road is not a 

matter of substantial public interest and is not a basis to grant review 

under RAP 13 .4(b ). 6 

6 The Point Whitney Owners again note the McGrew ROW does not cross WDFW 
Land, meaning even if the McGrew ROW was the upper portion of Canyon Creek 
Road, such right of way would be landlocked and unusable by Potato Patch. 
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C. Potato Patch's Voluntary Landlocking of Its Own Property is 
Not a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Warranting Review 

Potato Patch mistakenly argues the "inappropriateness of the Court 

of Appeals' test for finding voluntary landlocking is a matter of substantial 

public interest" warranting review. As an initial matter, the Court of 

Appeals did not apply a 'test' for finding voluntary landlocking of 

property. In fact, the Court of Appeals did not even hold Potato Patch 

voluntarily landlocked the Potato Patch Property. This is evident from 

Potato Patch's own citation to the Court of Appeals' Decision on this 

issue, which is footnote 3 of the fact section. Regardless, Potato Patch's 

voluntary landlocking of its property is not a basis to grant review. 

Under Washington law, summary judgment dismissal of a 

plaintiffs private way of necessity claim is appropriate where the plaintiff 

voluntarily landlocked its own parcel, made claims of reasonable necessity 

based on the financial impracticability of gaining access via the 

relinquished parcel, and waited a substantial amount of time before 

bringing its claims. Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1,282 P.3d 

1083 (2012). 

Here, Potato Patch seeks to do what this Court rejected in 

Ruvalcaba: sever the Potato Patch Property from access to a public road 

and condemn a private way of necessity over its neighbors, the Point 

Whitney Tracts. Indeed, Potato Patch makes an argument substantially 
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similar to that of the plaintiffs in Ruvalcaba: that it was impractical to 

build a road from the Duesing Properties to the Potato Patch Property due 

to a steep slope. CP 260. Potato Patch's voluntary landlocking of its own 

property is not a matter of substantial public interest warranting review. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

No basis exists to grant Potato Patch's Petition for Review: there 

are no issues of substantial public interest, no significant questions of 

constitutional law, and no conflicting legal authorities to resolve. Potato 

Patch's distortion of the Court of Appeals' Decision does not change this 

fact. Private condemnation of State land is impermissible under 

Washington law and speculation and wishful thinking cannot transmogrify 

the McGrew ROW into the separately created Canyon Creek Road. This 

Court should deny Potato Patch's Petition for Review.